LOS ANGELES WORLD AIRPORTS



CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITY PROGRAM RULES AND REGULATIONS

Effective date: August 23, 2011

Procurement Services Division 7301 World Way West, 4th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90045 (424) 646-5380 (424) 646-9262 (Fax)

CONTENTS

A.	DEFINITIONS	3
В.	SUBMISSION OF CRP QUESTIONNAIRES	5
C.	LAWA REVIEW OF SUBMITTED CRP QUESTIONNAIRES	6
D.	AWARD AND EXECUTION OF CONTRACTS	7
E.	CONTRACT AMENDMENTS	9
F.	CONTRACTOR NOTIFICATION OF INVESTIGATIONS AND UPDATE OF INFORMATION	9
G.	LAWA INVESTIGATION	11
H.	VIOLATIONS OF THE CRP OR THESE RULES AND REGULATIONS	12
I.	NON-RESPONSIBILITY HEARING	12
J.	NON-RESPONSIBILITY SANCTIONS	14
K.	EXEMPTIONS	14
L.	EFFECTIVE DATE OF CRP RULES AND REGULATIONS	16
M.	CONSISTENCY WITH FEDERAL AND STATE LAW	16
N.	SEVERABILITY	16

These Rules and Regulations are promulgated pursuant to Board Resolution #21601, the Los Angeles World Airports Contractor Responsibility Program (CRP). Each Requesting LAWA Division shall cooperate to the fullest extent with the Executive Director in the administration of the CRP. The Executive Director may amend these Rules and Regulations from time to time as required for the implementation of the CRP.

A. DEFINITIONS

- **1. Adoption of CRP definitions:** For purposes of these Rules and Regulations, the definitions set forth in the Board Resolution are incorporated herein by reference, and include the following:
 - a. Board
 - b. Executive Director
 - c. Los Angeles World Airports (LAWA)
 - d. "Contract" means any agreement for the performance of any work or service, the provision of any goods, equipment, materials or supplies, or the rendition of any service to LAWA or to the public or the grant of a public lease, which is awarded or entered into by or on behalf of LAWA. These Rules and Regulations shall apply to the following contracts:
 - (1) Contracts for services that require Board approval.
 - (2) Contracts for purchasing goods and products that require Board approval.
 - (3) Construction contracts that require Board approval.
 - (4) Licenses, agreements and/or permits for the Certified Service Provider Program (CSPP) per Board Resolution #24860
 - e. Contractor
 - f. Subcontractor
 - g. Bidder
 - h. **Bid**
 - i. Invitation for Bid ("IFB")
 - i. Public Lease

2. New Definitions:

- a. "Awarding Authority" means either the Executive Director or the Board of Airport Commissioners ("Board") or the Board's designee.
- b. "CRP Questionnaire" means the set of questions developed by Procurement Services Division (PSD) that will assist LAWA in determining a bidder or contractor's responsibility. Information solicited from the CRP Questionnaire may include but is not limited to: ownership and name changes, financial resources and responsibility, satisfactory performance of other contracts, satisfactory record of compliance with

relevant laws and regulations, and satisfactory record of business integrity. PSD may amend the CRP Questionnaire from time to time.

- c. "CRP Pledge of Compliance" means the CRP Pledge developed by PSD. The CRP Rules and Regulations may be updated from time to time by PSD. The CRP Pledge shall require contractors to sign under penalty of perjury that the contractor will:
 - (1) Comply with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws and regulations during the performance of the contract, including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety, labor and employment, wage and hour, and licensing laws which affect employees.
 - (2) Notify LAWA within 30 calendar days after receiving notification that any government agency has initiated an investigation that may result in a finding that the contractor did not comply with subparagraph 2(c)(1) above in the performance of the contract.
 - (3) Notify LAWA within 30 calendar days of all findings by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction that the contractor has violated subparagraph 2(c) (1) above in the performance of the contract.
 - (4) Provide LAWA within thirty (30) calendar days updated responses to the CRP Questionnaire if any change occurs which would change any response contained within the completed CRP Questionnaire. Note: This provision does not apply to amendments of contracts not subject to the CRP and to subcontractors not required to submit a Questionnaire.
 - (5) Ensure that subcontractors working on the LAWA contract shall complete, sign and submit a CRP Pledge of Compliance attesting under penalty of perjury to compliance with paragraphs 2(c)(1) through (4).
 - (6) Notify LAWA within thirty (30) days of becoming aware of an investigation, violation or finding of any applicable Federal, State, or local law involving the subcontractors in the performance of a LAWA contract.
 - (7) Cooperate fully with LAWA during an investigation and to respond to request(s) for information within ten (10) working days from the date of the Notice to Respond.
- d. "Requesting Division" means the LAWA division(s) which issued the Request For Bids ("RFB"), Request For Proposal ("RFP") or Request for Qualifications ("RFQ").
- e. "Responsibility" means possessing the necessary "trustworthiness" and "quality, fitness and capacity" to perform the work set forth in the contract.

B. SUBMISSION OF CRP QUESTIONNAIRES

- 1. Issuance of Invitation for Bids (IFB): These include Request for Bids (RFB), Request for Proposals (RFP), and Request for Qualifications (RFQ). Unless otherwise exempt from the CRP, if a proposed contract meets the definition of a contract subject to the CRP as defined in the Resolution and these Rules and Regulations, LAWA shall include in the IFB:
 - a. Language informing potential bidders of the CRP;
 - b. The CRP Questionnaire that bidders submit with their bid; and
 - c. The CRP Pledge of Compliance that bidders submit with their bid.

2. Submission of CRP Questionnaires with Bids:

- a. All bid and proposal submissions are required to contain a completed and signed CRP Questionnaire and a signed CRP Pledge of Compliance.
- b. Failure to submit a CRP Questionnaire and a CRP Pledge of Compliance in accordance with the IFB procedures may make the bidder non-responsive and disqualified from the bidding process.
- c. Submitted CRP Questionnaires and CRP Pledge of Compliance become public records, and information contained therein will be available for public review, except to the extent that such information is exempt from disclosure pursuant to applicable law.
- 3. Use of a non-competitive process to procure the proposed contract: If a non-competitive process is used by LAWA Divisions to procure the proposed contract, the proposed contractor is required to submit the completed CRP Questionnaire and a signed CRP Pledge of Compliance to LAWA for determination of contractor responsibility prior to execution of the contract.
- **4. Subcontractors**: The list of subcontractors shall be submitted with the bid and will be made available for public review along with the bidder's Questionnaire. For construction contracts, bidders must list a subcontractor proposed to be used on the City contract if the subcontractor will be performing work on the construction contract in an amount in excess of \$10,000 or in excess of one-half of one percent of the total bid amount, whichever is greater. For service contracts, bidders must list subcontractors as required by the IFB.

C. LAWA REVIEW OF SUBMITTED CRP QUESTIONNAIRES

- 1. Departmental Review of submitted bids: As part of the determination of a bidder's responsiveness, PSD will review the bid submissions to determine whether a completed CRP Questionnaire, signed under penalty of perjury, has been included with the bid. If a completed Questionnaire has not been included with the bid as required by the IFB procedures, the bidder may be deemed to be non-responsive and may be disqualified from the bidding process.
- **2. Posting of CRP Questionnaires and Subcontractor List**: Requesting Divisions will forward to PSD the completed CRP Questionnaires and subcontractor list(s), if any, submitted by the responsive bidders to make available for public review as follows:
 - a. If a contract is to be awarded pursuant to a competitive bid process, the CRP Questionnaires for the three lowest responsive bidders and their list of proposed subcontractors, if any, will be forwarded to PSD to make them available for public review for a minimum period of 14 calendar days.
 - b. If a contract is to be awarded pursuant to a proposal (RFP) or qualifications (RFQ) and award is not based on the lowest submitted bid price, the CRP Questionnaires for the short-listed proposers and their list of proposed subcontractors, if any, will be forwarded to PSD to make them available for public review for a minimum period of 14 calendar days. If no short-listing procedure is used, the CRP Questionnaire for the prospective contractor shall be made available for public review for a minimum period of 14 calendar days.
 - c. If a contract is to be awarded to a Sole Source, the CRP Questionnaire for the proposed contractor and their list of proposed subcontractors, if any, will be forwarded to PSD to make it available for public review for a period of 14 calendar days.
 - d. No contract shall be awarded to any bidder until at least 14 calendar days after the CRP Questionnaire has been made available for public review. If administrative or technical errors prevent or delay the posting of the CRP Questionnaire, the posting period will be extended by the amount of time that the CRP Questionnaire was not available for public review.
 - e. The CRP Questionnaire of the bidder/proposer awarded the contract will be retained by the Requesting Division as part of the contract file. The CRP Questionnaires for the bidders/proposers not awarded the contract will be retained in the customary manner by the Requesting Division.

3. Claims Resulting from Public Review:

a. Claims regarding a bidder or contractor's responsibility should be submitted to PSD in writing. However, PSD may investigate a claim regarding a bidder's or a contractor's responsibility, whether or not it is submitted in writing, if PSD in its discretion

determines that the claim calls into question the bidder's, the proposer's or the contractor's responsibility.

- b. If PSD receives information which calls into question a bidder's responsibility, and the information was received **before** the contract has been executed, PSD shall:
 - (1) Notify the Requesting Division in writing that no contract shall be awarded until PSD has completed investigation into the matter.
 - (2) Investigate the matter as required in Section G, "LAWA INVESTIGATION" to determine its validity.
 - (3) Upon completion of the investigation, PSD shall notify the Requesting Division and the Awarding Authority in writing of the result of the investigation.
 - (4) No contract may be awarded to any bidder until after the investigation has been completed and the Requesting Division and the Awarding Authority have received written notification that the investigation has been completed.
 - (5) Findings from the PSD investigation received by the Awarding Authority will be considered by the Awarding Authority as part of the determination of the bidder's responsibility.
- c. If PSD receives written information that calls into question a contractor's responsibility, and the information was received **after** the contract has been executed, PSD shall investigate the matter as required in Section G, LAWA INVESTIGATION.

D. AWARD AND EXECUTION OF CONTRACTS

1. Departmental Determination of Responsibility and Award of Contract:

- a. Requesting Division and the Awarding Authority shall determine whether a bidder/contractor is a responsible bidder, proposer or contractor with the necessary trustworthiness, quality, fitness and capacity to perform the work set forth in the proposed contract by considering the following:
 - (1) Information contained in the CRP Questionnaire:
 - (2) Information and documentation from PSD's investigation:
 - (3) Information regarding the bidder's, proposer's or contractor's past performance that may be contained in the City of Los Angeles' Contractor Evaluation Database.
 - (4) Information that may be available from any compliance or regulatory governmental agency, and
 - (5) Any other reliable information that may be available, including but not limited to information from any individual or any other governmental agency.

- b. The Board may award and the Executive Director may execute a contract with a bidder or proposer only if:
 - (1) The bidder's or proposer's CRP Questionnaire has been made available for public review for at least 14 calendar days unless otherwise exempted from the posting requirement by the CRP;
 - (2) The bidder or proposer is not being investigated by PSD pursuant to the CRP;
 - (3) The bidder or proposer has not been found to be a non-responsible bidder/proposer pursuant to the CRP;
 - (4) The bidder or proposer does not appear on any City list of debarred bidders or contractors; and
 - (5) The bidder or proposer has met all other applicable City requirements.

2. Submission of Pledge of Compliance:

- a. Unless otherwise exempt from the CRP, all bid/proposal submissions (RFBs, RFPs and RFQs) are required to contain a Pledge of Compliance with the CRP signed under penalty of perjury. Failure to submit a CRP Pledge of Compliance with the bid/proposal may make the bidder non-responsive and disqualified from the bidding process.
- b. Within 10 calendar days of execution of a contract with LAWA, the contractor shall submit to LAWA a signed CRP Pledge of Compliance from each subcontractor listed as performing work on the contract.

3. Subcontractor Responsibility:

- a. Contractors shall ensure that their subcontractors meet the criteria for responsibility set forth in the CRP and these Rules and Regulations unless the subcontract is not subject to the CRP.
- b. Contractors shall ensure that subcontractors working on the LAWA agreement shall complete and submit a signed CRP Pledge of Compliance.
- c. Contractors shall not use in any capacity any subcontractor that has been determined or found to be a non-responsible contractor by LAWA or the City.
- d. Subject to approval by the Requesting Division, contractors may substitute a non-responsible subcontractor with another, responsible subcontractor with no changes in bid amounts.

4. Execution of Contracts:

- a. Unless exempt from the CRP, all contracts shall contain language obligating the contractor to comply with the CRP.
- b. No contract may be executed unless:
 - (1) The proposed contractor has submitted a signed Pledge of Compliance with the CRP.
 - (2) The proposed contractor's CRP Questionnaire, unless otherwise exempt, has been made available for public review for at least 14 calendar days in accordance with these Rules and Regulations.

E. CONTRACT AMENDMENTS

- 1. Compliance with the CRP, except for the requirement to submit a CRP Questionnaire, is required in contract amendments if the initial contract was not subject to the CRP, but the total term and amount of the contract, inclusive of all amendments, would make the contract subject to the CRP.
 - a. A contractor subject to the CRP because of an amendment shall submit a CRP Pledge
 of Compliance to the Requesting Division before the contract amendment can be
 executed.
 - b. Unless exempt from the CRP, all contract amendments shall contain contract language obligating the contractor to comply with the CRP.

F. CONTRACTOR NOTIFICATION OF INVESTIGATIONS AND UPDATE OF INFORMATION

1. Notification of Investigations: Contractors shall:

- a. Notify the Requesting Division and PSD within 30 calendar days of receiving notice of any findings by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction that the contractor violated any applicable Federal, State, or local law in the performance of a LAWA, City of Los Angeles, County of Los Angeles, State of California, Federal Government or other government contract, including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety, labor and employment, wage and hour, and licensing laws which affect employees.
- b. Notify the Requesting Division and PSD within 30 calendar days of becoming aware of a violation or finding of violation of any applicable federal, state, or local law involving its subcontractors or sub-sub-contractors at any level in the performance of a LAWA contract.

2. Update of CRP Questionnaire Information:

- a. Updates of information contained in the contractor's responses to the CRP Questionnaire shall be submitted to the Requesting Division and PSD within 30 days of any changes to the responses if the change would affect the contractor's responsibility or ability to continue performing the contract.
- b. PSD or the Requesting Division shall determine whether a contractor in a specific situation should have provided information or updated information.
 - (1) If PSD or the Requesting Division becomes aware of new information concerning a contractor and determines that the contractor should have provided information or updated LAWA with such information, but the contractor has not done so, PSD shall issue a written notice to the contractor requiring the contractor to submit the required information within 10 calendar days.
 - (2) If PSD or the Requesting Division becomes aware of new information concerning a subcontractor and determines that the subcontractor should have provided information or updated LAWA of such information, but the subcontractor has not done so, PSD shall issue a written notice to the contractor requiring the subcontractor to submit the required information within 10 calendar days.
- c. Contractor's failure to provide information or updated information when required by LAWA, the CRP or these Rules and Regulations may be considered a material breach of the contract, and, additionally, may result in the initiation of a non-responsibility hearing pursuant to Section I of these Rules and Regulations.
- **3.** Contractors shall ensure that subcontractors provide information and updates. Contractors shall ensure that subcontractors performing work on their LAWA contract abide by these same updating requirements, including the requirement to:
 - a. Notify the Requesting Division and PSD within 30 calendar days after receiving notification that any government agency has initiated an investigation which may result in a finding that the subcontractor did not comply with any applicable Federal, State, or local law in the performance of the LAWA or City contract, including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety, labor and employment, wage and hour, and licensing laws which affect employees
 - b. Notify the Requesting Division and PSD within 30 calendar days of all findings by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction that the subcontractor violated any applicable Federal, State, or local law in the performance of a LAWA or City of Los Angeles contract, including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety, labor and employment, wage and hour, and licensing laws which affect employees.
- 4. Submission of CRP Questionnaires and Updates of CRP Questionnaire Is Not Applicable to Subcontractors: The requirement that contractors submit to LAWA CRP Questionnaires and updates to the CRP Questionnaire responses does not apply to subcontractors.

G. LAWA INVESTIGATION

1. Reporting of Alleged Violations: Allegations of violations of the CRP or these Rules and Regulations shall be reported to PSD. Complaints regarding a bidder's, proposer's or contractor's responsibility should be submitted to PSD in writing. However, PSD may investigate any claim or complaint regarding a bidder's, proposer's or a contractor's responsibility, whether or not it is submitted in writing. Whether based on a written complaint or otherwise, PSD shall be responsible for investigating such alleged violations.

2. Process:

- a. Upon receipt of a complaint or upon initiation of an investigation, PSD shall notify the Requesting Division, the Awarding Authority and the bidder, proposer or contractor in writing that an investigation has been initiated.
- b. The bidder, proposer or contractor shall cooperate fully with PSD in providing information. If the bidder/proposer or contractor fails to cooperate with PSD's investigation or fails to timely respond to PSD's requests for information, LAWA may initiate a non-responsibility hearing as set forth in Section I of these Rules and Regulations. A contractor's failure to cooperate may be deemed a material breach of the contract, and the City may pursue all available remedies.
- c. To the extent permissible, PSD shall maintain the identity of the complainant, if any, confidential.
- d. Upon completion of the investigation, PSD shall prepare a written report of the findings and notify the Requesting Division, the Awarding Authority and the bidder, proposer or contractor of the results.

3. Results of Investigation:

a. When an investigation is completed before the contract is awarded, PSD shall notify the Requesting Division and the Awarding Authority of the results, and Requesting Division and the Awarding Authority will consider the information as part of the determination of a bidder's responsibility during the bid/proposal review process.

- b. When an investigation is completed after the execution of a contract:
 - (1) If violations of the CRP are found, PSD shall notify the Requesting Division and contractor of the violation and require the contractor to make corrections or take reasonable measures within 10 calendar days.
 - (2) If the contractor fails to make corrections as required, PSD shall notify the Requesting Division and the Awarding Authority and may recommend that the Awarding Authority:
 - (i) Terminate the contract.
 - (ii) Initiate a hearing to declare the contractor a non-responsible contractor.

H. VIOLATIONS OF THE CRP OR THESE RULES AND REGULATIONS

- 1. Violations of the CRP or of these Rules and Regulations may be considered a material breach of the contract and may entitle LAWA or the City to terminate the contract.
- 2. Alleged violations of the CRP or of these Rules and Regulations shall be reported to the PSD which will investigate all such complaints.
- 3. When a violation of the CRP or of these Rules and Regulations is found, PSD shall notify the contractor and the Awarding Authority of the violation. PSD shall require the contractor to correct the violation within 10 calendar days. Failure to correct violations or take reasonable measures to correct violations within 10 calendar days may result in PSD:
 - a. Recommending that the Awarding Authority declare a material breach of the contract and that the Awarding Authority exercise all contractual and legal remedies available, including but not limited to termination of the contract, and/or
 - b. Recommending that the Awarding Authority declare the contractor a non-responsible contractor by initiating, within 30 calendar days or as soon as practicable, a non-responsibility hearing in accordance with Section I of these Rules and Regulations.

I. NON-RESPONSIBILITY HEARING

- 1. The process of declaring a bidder or contractor a non-responsible bidder or contractor shall be initiated by the Awarding Authority after consultation with the City Attorney's Office.
- 2. Before a bidder, proposer or contractor may be declared non-responsible, the bidder, proposer or contractor shall be notified of the proposed determination of non-responsibility and provided with an opportunity for a hearing.

- 3. The Awarding Authority or the Executive Director's designee shall preside over the non-responsibility hearing and shall provide the bidder, proposer or contractor with the following:
 - a. The bidder, proposer or contractor shall be provided with written Notice of intent to declare the bidder, proposer or contractor non-responsible ("Notice") which shall state that the Awarding Authority intends to declare the bidder, proposer or contractor a non-responsible bidder or contractor.
 - b. The Notice shall provide the bidder, proposer or contractor with the following information:
 - (1) That the Awarding Authority intends to declare the bidder or contractor a non-responsible bidder, proposer or contractor.
 - (2) A summary of the information upon which the Awarding Authority is relying.
 - (3) That the bidder, proposer or contractor has a right to respond to the information by requesting a hearing to rebut adverse information and to present evidence of its necessary trustworthiness, quality, fitness and capacity to perform the work required under the contract.
 - (4) That the bidder, proposer or contractor must exercise the right to a hearing by submitting to the Awarding Authority a **written request** for a hearing **within 10 working days** of the date of the Notice.
 - (5) That failure to submit a written request for hearing within 10 working days of the date of the Notice shall be considered a waiver of the right to a hearing that allows the Awarding Authority to proceed with the determination of non-responsibility.
 - c. If the bidder or contractor submits a written request for a hearing, the hearing may be held by the Awarding Authority for recommendation to the Board, which shall make the final decision.
 - d. The hearing must allow the bidder, proposer or contractor an opportunity to address the issues contained in the Notice of Intent to declare the bidder, proposer or contractor non-responsible.
 - e. The Awarding Authority may determine that the bidder, proposer or contractor:
 - (1) Does not possess the necessary trustworthiness, quality, fitness, or capacity to perform the work set forth in the proposed contract, should be declared a nonresponsible bidder, proposer or contractor, and recommend to the Board invocation of the remedies set forth in Section J of these Rules and Regulations.
 - (2) Should not be declared a non-responsible bidder or contractor.
 - f. The Board's determination shall be final and constitute exhaustion of administrative remedies.
- g. The Board's final decision shall be in writing and shall be provided to the bidder, 04/2014

proposer or contractor, the Requesting Division and to PSD. If the bidder, proposer or contractor is declared to be non-responsible, a copy of the final decision shall also be provided to the CAO.

J. NON-RESPONSIBILITY SANCTIONS

- 1. A **bidder/proposer** found non-responsible by LAWA shall be disqualified from:
 - a. award of the proposed contract or,
 - b. participating, in any way, in the proposed contract.

Such non-responsible bidder or proposer shall not perform any work in the proposed contract, whether as a prime contractor, a subcontractor, a partner in a partnership, a participant in a joint venture, a member of a consortium or in any other capacity.

- 2. An existing **contractor** found non-responsible by LAWA may be declared to have a material breach of contract, and LAWA may exercise its contractual and legal remedies thereunder, which are to include, but are not limited to termination of the contract.
- 3. Upon final determination of a bidder, proposer or contractor as non-responsible, PSD shall provide the Requesting Division and the bidder, proposer or contractor with a written notice summarizing the Awarding Authority's findings and sanctions.
- 4. PSD shall maintain a listing of bidders/proposers and contractors who have been found non-responsible by LAWA pursuant to the CRP.

K. EXEMPTIONS

- **1. Categorical Exemption**: The following types of contracts are categorically exempt from the CRP and these Rules and Regulations:
 - a. Contracts with a governmental entity such as the United States of America, the State of California, a county, city or public agency of such entities, or a public or quasi-public corporation located therein and declared by law to have such status.
 - b. Contracts for the investment of trust moneys or agreements relating to the management of trust assets.
 - c. Banking contracts entered into by the Treasurer pursuant to California Government Code Section 53630 et seq.

Board approval required for CRP Exemptions: The following types of contracts are exempt from the requirement to submit a Questionnaire but remain subject to the requirement that the contractor submit a Pledge of Compliance and notify the Awarding Authority within 30 days of any information regarding investigations or the results of investigations by any governmental agency into the contractor's compliance with applicable laws.

- a. Contracts awarded on the basis of exigent circumstances when the Awarding Authority finds the City would suffer a financial loss or that City operations would be adversely impacted.
 - (1) This exemption is subject to approval by PSD.
 - (2) The Awarding Authority shall submit a request to PSD for waiver along with written certification that the required conditions exist.
 - (3) No contract may be exempted under this provision unless PSD has granted written approval of the waiver.
 - b. Contracts where the goods or services are proprietary or available from only one source.
 - (1) This exemption is subject to approval by PSD.
 - (2) The Awarding Authority shall submit a request to PSD for waiver along with written certification that the required conditions exist.
 - (3) No contract may be exempted under this provision unless PSD has granted written approval of the waiver.
 - c. Contracts awarded in accordance with Charter Section 371(e)(5). The Awarding Authority must certify in writing that award is based on urgent necessity in accordance with Charter Section 371(e)(5).
 - d. Contracts entered into based on, Charter Section 371(e)(6), (7) or (8). The Awarding Authority must certify in writing that the contract is entered into in accordance with Charter Section 371(e)(6), (7) or (8).

L. EFFECTIVE DATE OF RULES AND REGULATIONS

- 1. These Rules and Regulations apply to IFB's issued after the Executive Director has approved these Rules and Regulations.
- 2. These Rules and Regulations apply to contracts entered into by LAWA after the Executive Director has approved these Rules and Regulations.
- 3. Contracts amended after these Rules and Regulations are approved by the Executive Director will become subject to CRP and these Rules and Regulations if they meet definitions contained in the CRP and these Rules and Regulations.

M. CONSISTENCY WITH FEDERAL AND STATE LAW

The CRP and these Rules and Regulations do not apply in instances where application would be prohibited by Federal and State law or where the application would violate or be inconsistent with the terms and conditions or a grant or contract with the Federal or State agency.

N. SEVERABILITY

If any provision of the CRP or these Rules and Regulations are declared legally invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions remain in full force and effect.